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CHAPTER 1 

 
INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW 

 
 
This chapter presents general information about the establishment of the Office of Surface 
Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (OSM) and a discussion of the Civil Penalty Conference 
Officer Program. 
 
1.1 
 

General Background 

National concern over extensive environmental damage caused by previous coal mining 
activities led to the passage of Public Law 95-87, the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation 
Act of 1977 (hereafter referred to as the Act).   Section 201(a) of the Act established OSM within 
the Department of the Interior.  Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 30, Chapter VII (parts 700-
899) contains the regulations that establish procedures for implementation of the Act.   
 
Section 518 of the Act states that any permittee: 
 

. . . who violates any permit condition or who violates any other provision of this 
title, may be assessed a civil penalty . . . . Each day of continuing violation may 
be deemed a separate violation for purposes of civil penalty assessments.  In 
determining the amount of the penalty, consideration shall be given to the 
permittee's history of previous violations at the particular surface coal mining 
operation; the seriousness of the violation, including any irreparable harm to the 
environment and any hazard to the health or safety of the public; whether the 
permittee was negligent; and the demonstrated good faith of the permittee 
charged in attempting to achieve rapid compliance after notification of the 
violation. 

 
A civil penalty is assessed only after the permittee fails to avail him/her self of the opportunity 
for a public hearing or other appeal rights.  The permittee is then issued an order requiring 
payment of the assessed penalty amount. 
  
The Act, clarified and amplified by the CFR, allows permittees the opportunity to have a public 
hearing when they are issued violations that require cessation of mining and are to be assessed 
civil penalties for actions contrary to the Act.  In addition to public hearings, a procedure has 
been initiated allowing for informal assessment conferences to be conducted after a permittee has 
been issued a Notice of Proposed Civil Penalty Assessment (NOPA).  The Conference Officer 
position was established in order to provide trained personnel to conduct these assessment 
conferences.  This manual is written to establish procedures and guidelines for the Conference 
Officers, including the requirements for conducting assessment conferences. 
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1.2 
 
General Appeal Rights 

A. Within thirty (30) days after receiving a Notice of Violation (NOV) or Cessation 
Order (CO), the permittee may file an application for review and request for hearing under the 
provisions of 43 CFR Part 4.   

 
B. As set forth at 30 CFR 843.15 and OSM Directive INE-6 (March 24, 1983), 

within thirty (30) days of being served a citation that requires cessation of mining, the permittee 
may request an informal public hearing (also known as a mine site hearing) to review or contest 
the violation.  Forms for requesting the hearing are attached to the served citation.  If the 
operator is dissatisfied with the results of the mine site hearing, a formal appeal may be 
requested under the provisions of paragraph A. above. 

 
C. Upon receipt of the NOPA for the violation from the Assessment Officer (see 

Chapter 3, Civil Penalty Assessment), the permittee may request either 1. and/or 2. below: 
 

  1. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of the NOPA, the permittee may 
request an informal assessment conference to review or protest the proposed penalty amount.  In 
accordance with 30 CFR 845.18, “The assessment conference shall be held within 60 days from 
the date the conference request is received or the end of the abatement period, whichever is 
later.”  An assessment conference will not be held on violations that have not been terminated.  
The purpose of the assessment conference is to discuss the amount of the penalty, not the fact of 
the violation.  The person requesting the conference is not required to pay the proposed amount 
into escrow to qualify for the assessment conference.  Only citations with a proposed civil 
penalty will be included in the assessment conference process.   
 
  2.  As set forth at 43 CFR Part 4 and 30 CFR 845.19, the permittee may 
request a penalty hearing with the Office of Hearings and Appeals (OHA) to contest the 
proposed civil penalty and/or the fact of the violation, if not already requested.  The request must 
be made within thirty (30) days after receipt of the NOPA, and the permittee must pay the 
proposed civil penalty amount into escrow.   
 
 D.    After the informal conference, the permittee may contest the proposed penalty by 
submitting a petition to the OHA within thirty (30) days after the date of service of the 
Conference Officer’s action.  The petition must be accompanied by an amount equal to the 
reassessed or affirmed penalty, to be held in escrow pending completion of the review process. 
(30 CFR 845.19(a)) 
 
1.3 

    
Definitions 

 A.   Assessment Officer

 

.  A person who reviews NOVs and COs to determine if and 
for how much a civil penalty will be assessed (30 CFR 845.11) and who approves requests for 
informal assessment conferences. 

 B.  Conference Officer.  A person who conducts a civil penalty assessment 
conference. 
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     C.   Permittee/Operator

 

.  30 CFR 701.5 defines a permittee as “. . . a person holding or 
required by the Act or this chapter to hold a permit to conduct surface coal mining and 
reclamation operations issued by a State regulatory authority pursuant to a State program, by the 
Director pursuant to a Federal program, or, where a cooperative agreement pursuant to section 
523 of the Act has been executed, by the Director and the State regulatory authority.”  Operator 
is defined as “. . . any person engaged in coal mining that removes or intends to remove more 
than 250 tons of coal from the earth or from coal refuse piles by mining within 12 consecutive 
calendar months in any one location.”  Violations of the Act are most often issued to permittees.  
If there is a separate entity identified as an operator on the permit, the operator is also issued the 
same violation.  An operator, who is conducting mining operations without a permit or as a coal 
exploration operation, can also be issued a violation.  For the purposes of the Civil Penalty 
Conference Officer Manual, the term “permittee” is used throughout to identify the individual 
representing the person or company to whom a violation was issued.   

     D.   Reviewer/rater

 

.  A person who evaluates the Conclusion of Conference Report 
and approves the Conference Officer Audit Report, and who provides advice on Assessment 
Conference issues as requested by the Conference Officer. 

     E.   Violation

 

.  A violation of the Act, regulations, or permit conditions.  Where such 
violations exist, a NOV, Imminent Harm Cessation Order (IHCO, or CO), and/or Failure to 
Abate (the underlying NOV) Cessation Order (FTACO, or CO) will be issued. 
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CHAPTER 2 
 

CONFERENCE PROCEDURES 
 

 
The procedures outlined in this chapter apply to informal assessment conferences.   
 
2.1  

 
Purpose of Assessment Conferences 

The assessment conference gives the permittee an opportunity to informally discuss the proposed 
assessment of penalty for a citation prior to the assessment becoming finalized and without 
placing any money into escrow.  The assessment conference provides an opportunity for the 
permittee to present information that was not available at the time of the proposed assessment or 
to offer extenuating circumstances that may affect the proposed assessment.  Any person has the 
right to attend and participate in the assessment conference. 
 
The assessment conference is not a forum for discussing whether a violation occurred.  
Determining the validity of a violation is beyond the scope of the Conference Officer’s 
jurisdiction, and it must be accepted that enforcement actions taken by the inspector are correct.  
(However, if the Conference Officer identifies what he/she believes is a problem with an 
enforcement action, or if the permittee asserts facts which would indicate the violation was 
written in error, the Conference Officer may bring these facts to the attention of the Conference 
Officer’s supervisor.  Where a dispute remains, the proper course of action for discussing the fact 
of the violation is the hearing procedure pursuant to section 525 of the Act.) 
 
After the presentation and review of information, and upon obtaining concurrence from the 
reviewer, the Conference Officer makes a final penalty assessment decision.  Settlement of all 
outstanding issues pertaining to the penalty assessed is to be accomplished, if possible, as it 
precludes further collection and legal action and the need to deny permits or take other remedial 
measures because of outstanding violations or penalties.  

 
2.2  

 
Responsibilities of the Conference Officer 

As informal assessment conferences are the means for the permittee and the general public to 
discuss and resolve the merits and aspects of proposed assessments, it is essential that the 
Conference Officer be regarded as just, consistent, and accurate in the interpretation of law and 
procedure.  The Conference Officer must be knowledgeable in the application of laws pertaining 
to the coal mining industry.   

 
The Conference Officer must be impartial but objective in the decision-making process.  
Communication is essential so that all affected parties feel that justice prevailed and the right of 
expression and appeal was served.  The mission of enforcement of the Act is prevalent in all 
decisions, but the intent of the law must always be considered.  The permittee should be educated 
in the requirements of the Act and, more importantly, become endowed with the spirit of 
cooperation in endeavoring to fulfill the provisions of the Act on a voluntary basis. 
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The Conference Officer must possess the ability to research pertinent information in order to 
prepare for the conference and to evaluate presentations made at the conference.  In addition, the 
Conference Officer must possess the technical ability to obtain and understand the facts relating 
to violations, including intent, seriousness, and potential or actual environmental harm. 
Negotiations are to be conducted rationally in order to settle the issues involved in the 
assessment conference process.  The Conference Officer must possess the ability to listen, 
perceive, and evaluate information to arrive at a final conclusion about the penalty assessed, 
based on fair, impartial decisions rendered by facts rather than impressions or preconceived 
concepts.   
 
The Conference Officer should construct and maintain a complete file for each assessment 
conference (see 2.5, Preparing for the Assessment Conference).  Fully documenting the 
procedures, decision-making processes, and other efforts used in rendering a final assessment is 
essential.  A log or history sheet can be used to record activities and other actions taken in the 
conference process.  This form does not replace other required documents but is a brief 
recapitulation of actions and events encountered or contemplated during the assessment 
conference process.   In the event of transfer or other monitoring of the case, a log or history 
sheet will allow continuing action to transpire without unnecessary duplication of effort. 
 
The Assessment Officer (see Chapter 3, Civil Penalty Assessment), who is responsible for 
issuing the NOPA will create, establish, and maintain a case file of pertinent documents that will 
be provided to the Conference Officer to be made a part of a conference case file.   The 
Conference Officer is responsible for ensuring that all documents relating to the violation(s) are 
received and made a part of the conference case file. 
 
The Conference Officer will send a Conclusion of Conference Report to the permittee after the 
conference is concluded.  (See 2.9, Conference Officer Audit Report, for more information.) 
 
Typical forms and documents used by a Conference Officer are shown in the Exhibits at the end 
of this manual. 
 
2.3  
 

Scope of the Conference 

A Conference Officer may affirm, increase, lower, or vacate a proposed civil penalty.  Subject to 
the approval of the appropriate management official as specified in OSM Directive OPM-5, a 
Conference Officer also has the authority to modify an assessment in excess of 25 percent and 
$500 of the original assessment (30 CFR 845.18 (b)(4)). 
 
2.4  
 

Scheduling the Conference 

The permittee must request a conference in writing within thirty (30) days of receipt of the 
NOPA.  A form for requesting a conference will be included with every NOPA where a violation 
is assessed a civil penalty.  Requests for an assessment conference will be sent to the Assessment 
Officer in the following offices: 
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• Mining operations in Appalachian Region states will be sent to: Inspection Group, 
Knoxville Field Office; 

 
• Mining operations in Mid-Continent Region states will be sent to: Program Support 

Division, Mid-Continent Regional Office; and 
 

• Mining operations in Western Region states will be sent to: Program Support 
Division, Western Regional Office. 

 
After the conference is approved by the Assessment Officer, a copy of the conference approval 
and assessment case file is sent to the Conference Officer in the jurisdiction where the violation 
was issued. 
 
The assessment conference must be scheduled at the earliest practical date and concluded no 
later than sixty (60) days after receipt of the approval letter or the end of the abatement period, 
whichever is later.  (“Provided, That a failure by the Office to hold such conference within 60 
days shall not be grounds for dismissal of all or part of an assessment unless the [permittee] 
proves actual prejudice as a result of the delay.”  30 CFR 845.18)  The permittee should be given 
an opportunity to have the conference scheduled at a convenient date, time, and place.  As the 
conference may be attended by the public, the conference site will be a location where public 
access is available. 
 
Pursuant to 30 CFR 845.18(b)(2), a notice of the assessment conference must be posted at the 
state or OSM field or area office closest to the mine at least five (5) days prior to the scheduled 
conference.  A copy of the letter scheduling the conference may be used as the notice.  Any 
person shall have a right to attend and participate in the conference. 
 
Assessment conferences may also be held by telephone or by letter.  The public will be included 
in the following ways:  
 

A. Telephone conferences will be arranged in advance to ensure all parties, including 
the public, are available.  The scheduling letter should provide instructions for participation by 
the public. 
 

B. An assessment conference conducted by mail will require that the permittee and 
all parties, including the public, provide information to be considered no later than the scheduled 
conference date.  Mail from the permittee will be available, upon request from the public, the day 
on which the conference is scheduled.  The scheduling letter should provide instructions for 
participation by the public. 

 
The purpose of the assessment conference is to provide a forum for the permittee and other 
participants to discuss the proposed assessment.  The permittee is contacted either by phone, by 
e-mail, or by regular mail to confirm the time and place for the conference; or by certified mail if 
prior phone contact was not possible.  If the permittee cannot make the scheduled appointment 
and fails to reschedule the conference, or fails to appear at the conference, the conference may be 
concluded without any further information from the permittee.  The permittee will be sent a 
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Conclusion of Conference Report concluding the conference to allow the permittee the 
opportunity to request a penalty hearing, and to finalize the case for collection purposes if the 
permittee does not request a hearing. 
 
2.5  
 

Preparing for the Assessment Conference 

In preparing the conference case file, the Conference Officer should make certain that all basic 
documents are included in the file.  Documents (see Chapter 4, Exhibits) may include:  
 
 A. Enforcement documents: 
 

  Copy of citation, including modifications/vacation/termination 
  Copy of inspection report narrative, MEIR, and inspection statement 

  
B. Assessment documents: 
 

  Copy of enforcement documents (above) 
  Log sheet (used to monitor the status of a citation) 
  NOPA (including assessment worksheet/explanation)   
  Conference Request Form 
  Conference Request approval letter 
  Conference appointment letter 

  
The Conference Officer should review the case file materials before the assessment conference 
so that missing documents can be obtained and questionable issues can be resolved prior to the 
conference.  Missing documents should be secured from the originating office of the document.   
 
In addition, the Conference Officer should compare the Inspector’s Report and Inspector’s 
Statement with the assessment worksheet to ensure the documents are in agreement and 
consistent with regulations, policies, and procedures.  Other offices within OSM may be 
contacted if clarification is needed. 
 
The Conference Officer will also compare the date(s) for abatement, along with any 
modifications, to determine if any good faith points can be awarded (see Chapter 3).  If good 
faith points are available, the permittee should be contacted regarding the documentation 
required to award good faith points.  The Conference Officer should review any new material 
submitted by the permittee prior to the conference.  If the material may lead to a revision of the 
NOPA, it must be verified and documentation secured to substantiate any proposed revision. 
 
After reviewing the case file and conducting the pre-conference analysis, the Conference Officer 
may contact the inspector by telephone or in person to discuss the violations(s).  (Similarly, the 
Conference Officer may contact the inspector post-conference if additional information is needed 
to clarify issues and address questions that result from the conference.) 
 
Documents that may be added to the case file prior to the conference include: 
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 A. Phone logs of conversations to clarify information; 
 

B. Pre-assessment conference notes containing questions to be addressed; 
 
C. A copy of the letter scheduling the conference; and 
 
D. Sign-in sheet. 

 
In addition, the Conference Officer may wish to have a copy of pertinent regulations (e.g., 30 
CFR 845, Public Law 95-87, Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act) and the Civil Penalty 
Conference Officer Manual available for reference.     
 
2.6  
 

Conducting the Assessment Conference 

The Conference Officer is responsible for maintaining accurate and complete notes of 
assessment conference proceedings.  The Conference Officer will open the conference with an 
explanation of the purpose of the conference.  The Conference Officer will remind those 
attending the conference that the proceedings are an informal assessment conference and that it is 
not governed by section 554 of Title 5 of the United States Code, regarding requirements for 
formal adjudicatory hearings. 
 
The Conference Officer will provide a sign-in sheet to record the attendance of those 
participating in the assessment conference. 
 
After the opening remarks by the Conference Officer, the permittee may present information that 
is relevant to the assessment.  The conference should cover the assessment points assigned for 
the criteria considered in the assessment process.  (The criteria considered for violations are 
history, seriousness [including obstruction], negligence [fault], and good faith.   Refer to Chapter 
3 for specific information about points.)  The review and analysis of assigned points will be 
considered in conjunction with the information provided by the permittee, the public, and other 
offices within OSM.  The permittee may provide information that was not available at the time 
of the proposed assessment or offer extenuating circumstances that may have a bearing on the 
case.  Any revisions to the points assessed must be fully documented and in accordance with the 
Federal regulations at 30 CFR 845.13.  Good faith will be discussed if it was not considered in 
the original assessment.  (Because of the length of the abatement time, the penalty may have 
been assessed prior to the end of the abatement period.) 
 
Pursuant to 30 CFR 845.18(b)(2), any person has the right to attend and participate in the 
assessment conference.  Any presentations by the public are made after the permittee’s 
presentations are completed.    Comments made by the public will be recorded by the Conference 
Officer and will become a part of the conference file.  If the public presents testimony that is 
contrary to documentation present in the file, the Conference Officer will, following the 
conference, seek assistance from other offices, within or outside of OSM, to verify the public 
testimony. 
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The Conference Officer must direct the discussions to facts relevant to the assessment, not

 

 the 
fact of the violation.  The proper forum for a permittee to contest the fact of the violation is a 
hearing in accordance with section 525 of the Act, not the assessment conference. 

After hearing all of the evidence and testimony presented in the assessment conference, weighing 
all of the factors found in the case file and by personal interviews, and upon receiving 
concurrence from the reviewer, the Conference Officer will render a decision on the final 
assessment of the civil penalty.   
 
30 CFR 845.14 (Determination of amount of penalty), as revised, will be used to convert points 
assigned to a violation to a civil penalty assessment amount.  The Conference Officer may make 
the decision to affirm, raise, lower, or vacate the proposed penalty during the assessment 
conference, or he/she may defer the decision until further documentation is obtained.  A 
Conference Officer also has the authority to modify an assessment in excess of 25 percent and 
$500 of the original assessment, but must first obtain approval of the appropriate management 
official. 
 
When the Conference Officer has determined the final amount of penalty assessed, the following 
actions may occur to conclude the assessment conference: 
 

A. The permittee may sign a settlement agreement and pay the penalty in full within 
thirty (30) days. 

 
 B. The penalty may be reduced to No Penalty Assessed. 

 
 C. The permittee may state that he is unable to pay the penalty.  The Conference 
Officer will explain that if the penalty assessed amount is not paid within thirty (30) days, and 
neither the penalty assessed nor the fact of the violation are appealed within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the Conclusion of Conference Report, the penalty assessment will become a Final 
Order and will be referred to OSM’s Division of Financial Management for debt processing, 
including billing and collection procedures. 
 
 D. The permittee may state that he is going to contest the penalty (or the fact of the 
violation if not previously contested) by filing a petition for review with the OHA.  The 
Conference Officer will discuss the timeframes for application for a hearing and will explain that 
an amount equal to the reassessed or affirmed penalty, to be held in escrow, must accompany the 
application.  The permittee can be tactfully reminded that further appeal will require additional 
time and effort.  The permittee’s plan for further appeal should not have any bearing on the 
conference proceedings or final penalty assessed. 
 
 E. “The Conference Officer may terminate the conference when he or she determines 
that the issues cannot be resolved or that the [permittee] is not diligently working toward 
resolution of the issues” (30 CFR 845.18).  The permittee will be sent a Conclusion of 
Conference Report to allow the permittee the opportunity to request a hearing and to finalize the 
case for collection purposes if the permittee does not request a hearing. 
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In closing the conference, the Conference Officer should thank the permittee and the public for 
attending.  If applicable, the permittee should also be advised of the right, pursuant to  
30 CFR 845.19, to request an appeal hearing.  In addition, the permittee should be counseled on 
avoiding future violations and on abating any other existing violations as rapidly as possible. 
 
2.7  
 

Settling the Case  

The Conference Officer should attempt to settle cases through the conference process.  In many 
cases, agreement can be reached through conference, and this prevents additional expenditure of 
time and effort in the preparation of a final order and subsequent collection procedures. 
 
2.8 
 

Preparing Conclusion of Conference Report 

The Conference Officer will send a written Conclusion of Conference Report to the permittee 
within thirty (30) days after the conference is held.   Although the Conclusion of Conference 
Report should be prepared as soon as possible following the conference, there may be slight 
delays pending the arrival of affidavits or other documentation from the permittee, the receipt of 
payment with signature of permittee consenting to settlement, or for time for consulting with 
other officials regarding the case. 
 
The report will document NOV or CO numbers, the original point totals and proposed 
assessments, the modified point totals, and modified assessments for each NOV and/or CO 
considered in the conference.  This report should provide documentation of any revised civil 
penalty for each violation considered at the conference, changes in points, and the rationale for 
changes.  The reasons for changing points must be documented, be consistent with policy, and be 
accurate reflections of facts made available to the Conference Officer.   
 
2.9  
 

Conference Officer Audit Report 

The Conference Officer will prepare an audit report summarizing the conference findings to 
submit (along with the Conclusion of Conference Report) to a person designated to review the 
documents to ensure accuracy and compliance with regulations and established procedures.  The 
reviewer will initial each section that is determined to be complete and accurate and will note 
any sections that require additional work or clarification.  If additional work is required, the 
Conference Officer completes or corrects the documents and submits to the reviewer again for 
approval. 
 
Within thirty (30) days of the assessment conference and following approval by the reviewer, the 
Conclusion of Conference Report (and forms relating to the conference) can be dated with the 
approval date and sent to the permittee, retaining a copy for the case file.  If payment is still due, 
the letter and forms should be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, so that OSM has a 
record of receipt by the permittee.  The certified mail receipt should contain the NOV and/or CO 
number of the specific violation(s). 
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Copies of all documents sent to the permittee and reports and correspondence prepared by the 
Conference Officer will be made a part of the assessment case file.   Documents (see Chapter 3, 
Exhibits) may include: 
 
 A. Enforcement documents (see 2.5 Preparing for the Assessment Conference); 
 
 B. Assessment documents (see 2.5 Preparing for the Assessment Conference); and 
 
 C. Conference documents: 
 

  1. History sheet (pre-conference notes) 
  2. Conference sign-in sheet 
  3. Conclusion of Conference Report 
  4. Conference Officer Audit Report   
 
2.10  
 

Corrections of Conference Officer Documents 

If errors are discovered in a Conclusion of Conference Report or related documents that have 
been previously submitted and mailed, corrections will be made as follows: 
 
 A. Original pages, containing errors, should remain in the report, with a statement on 
the bottom of the specified page indicating that a correction follows. 
 
 B. Corrected pages follow the original erroneous pages.  The Conference Officer 
initials and dates the correction(s). 
 

C. The corrected Conclusion of Conference Report, and related documents if 
applicable, should be mailed to the permittee and a copy retained in the Conference Officer case 
file.  The word “corrected,” followed by the current date, should be placed under the original 
date on the Conclusion of Conference Report. 

A-14 
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CHAPTER 3 
 

CIVIL PENALTY ASSESSMENT 
 

OSM has delegated the assessment process to Assessment Officers within OSM.  The Code of 
Federal Regulations, Title 30, Part 845 contains amplification and clarification of the assessment 
process imposed by section 518 of the Act.  The Assessment Officer reviews each NOV and CO 
to determine whether a civil penalty will be assessed, the amount of the penalty, and whether 
each day of continuing violation will be a separate violation for the purpose of total assessed 
penalty. 
 
This chapter provides guidelines that may be used in determining if and for how much a civil 
penalty should be assessed for a violation.  The references for this chapter are 30 CFR 845.13 
Point system for penalties, and 30 CFR 845.14 (as revised) Determination of amount of penalty.  
 
3.1  
 

Point System for Penalties 

Points for violations are assigned for various individual criterion considered in the assessment.  
A penalty shall be assessed if a violation is assigned 31 points or more under the point system 
described in 30 CFR 845.13.  OSM may assess a penalty for a violation assigned 30 points or 
less. 
 
The criteria considered for each proposed assessment are history, seriousness (including 
obstruction), negligence (fault), and good faith.  Points are accumulated in each criterion of 
history, seriousness, and negligence, but the point count may be reduced by the criterion of good 
faith.  The total point count will determine the amount of penalty assessed.   
 
Within fifteen (15) days of service of an NOV or CO, the pemittee may submit written 
information concerning the violation to the Assessment Officer and to the inspector who issued 
the NOV or CO.  The information submitted will be considered in determining the facts 
surrounding the violation and the amount of the penalty (30 CFR 845.17). 
 
Within thirty (30) days of the issuance of the NOV or CO, the Assessment Officer sends a 
NOPA and a worksheet showing the computation of the proposed assessment by certified mail to 
the permittee.  Mailed enclosures will include a Request for Assessment Conference form.  This 
form must be returned to the Assessment Officer within thirty (30) days after the permittee 
receives the NOPA if a conference is desired. 
 
The points assigned are derived from analysis of the case file, the inspector’s report and 
statement, and the actual NOV or CO.  To render a totally accurate assessment, the data must be 
complete, comprehensive, legible, and contained in the case file.   
 
The categories within the assessment criteria are described below. 
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 A. History

 

.   Up to thirty (30) points can be assigned based on the history of previous 
violations.   The assignment of history points follows a given formula: 

  1. One (1) point for each separate violation in an NOV at the same site within 
a previous 12-month period; and 
 
  2. Five (5) points for each separate violation in a CO at the same site within a 
previous 12-month period. 
 
Note:  “Same site” has been defined as a permitted area. 
 
To be assessed history points, the previous violations must have been finalized.  Violations are 
not finalized until the entire review process is complete.  If a permittee fails to exercise the right 
of review, the violation is complete as of the date the permittee’s right to review expires.  If a 
violation is vacated, the violation is not used in assembling history points. 
 
The Assessment Officer will review the previous violations found in the permittee case file and 
assign points based on the findings.  The Conference Officer must ascertain that the proposed 
assignment of points is valid and all violations were included.  History points may be affirmed, 
raised, or lowered depending on the results of the research and also on information supplied by 
the permittee in the conference. 
 

B. Seriousness

 

.  Up to thirty (30) points can be assigned based on the seriousness of 
a violation.  In determining the assignment of points under the seriousness criterion, the first 
consideration is whether the violation is an event or potential event (environmental) or an 
obstruction (see C. below). 

Events are violations that cause or potentially could cause environmental damage, personal 
injury, or property damage that could or did result from the violation of the regulation.   
 
In the assignment of penalty points, seriousness is subdivided into two elements of consideration:  
(1) the probability of occurrence, and (2) the extent of potential or actual damage.  Under  
30 CFR 845.13(b)(2)(i), probability of occurrence points are to be assigned as follows: 
 
  1. occurred  15 points 
  2.  likely to occur  10-14 points 
  3. unlikely to occur 5-9 points 
  4.  insignificant  1-4 points 
  5. none   0 points 
 
The extent of potential or actual damage points are assigned as follows: 
 
  1.  damage that could extend off-permit area  8-15 points 
  2.  damage confined within permit area   0-7 points 
 



APPENDIX A 

A-17 
 

Based on the facts presented in the violation, the inspector’s report and statement, or other 
documentation concerning the violation, the assessor determines the applicable categories within 
seriousness and assigns points within the two elements.  For instance, if damage would occur 
only within the permit area, the starting point assignment would be three (3) points.  Moving up 
or down the point scale depends on mitigating circumstances.  If damage could extend beyond 
the permit area, the starting point assignment would be eight (8) points and move up to the 
maximum of fifteen (15) points.  The determination of occurrences should be fine-tuned to the 
compounding circumstances.  In the insignificant, unlikely, and likely categories, the assessor 
begins at midrange, three (3), seven (7), and twelve (12), respectively, and moves up or down 
depending on the mitigating or exacerbating circumstances.  Developing an understanding for 
the relative severity of particular situations will determine how an assessor or Conference Officer 
decides the points to assign.  
 
In the assessment conference, the permittee may present information concerning the seriousness 
of the violation that may create the need to affirm, raise, or lower the proposed assessment.  
 

C.   Obstructions

 

.  Obstruction (administrative) violations prevent the inspector from 
reviewing the overall operations of the mine to determine compliance with regulations.  
Similarly, violations that prevent the public from identifying the mine site (permit) or exercising 
rights under the Act are considered obstructions.  

Up to fifteen (15) points can be assigned for obstruction violations.  When the violation 
constitutes an obstruction, the assignment of points is based on the degree to which the violation 
prevented or impeded enforcement by an inspector or enforcement initiated by the public.   
 
Obstruction violations generally involve the permittee’s failure to keep records, authorizations, 
approved plans, or maps at or near the mine site, thereby obstructing the inspector, or the failure 
to post proper permit or perimeter signs which might hinder public or inspector identification of 
the mine site.  Also included are citations issued for failure to file the required quarterly Coal 
Reclamation Fee report (form OSM-1) and failure to pay reclamation fees. 
 
The general guideline for assignment of points is that actual obstruction is assessed in the 10-15 
point range, while potential obstruction is assessed in the 1-9 point range. 
 
When it appears that a violation could result in either an obstruction or an event, it may be 
necessary to contact the inspector to clarify the type of violation.  Was the particular violation 
more of an obstruction to enforcement or was it clear that damage had already occurred or was 
likely to occur? 
 
 D. Negligence

 

.  Assigning points for the negligence criterion involves a 
determination of the permittee’s degree of fault in committing a violation, either through an act 
or failure to act.  The regulations specify the standard of reasonable care for permittees.  The 
permittee is responsible for learning and following the regulations.  Up to twenty-five (25) points 
can be assigned based on the degree of negligence. 
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30 CFR Part 845.13 (b)(3)(iii) states:  “In calculating points to be assigned for negligence, the 
acts of all persons working on the coal exploration or surface coal mining and reclamation site 
shall be attributed to the person to whom the notice or order was issued, unless that person 
establishes that they were acts of deliberate sabotage.” 
 
Following are the categories of degree of fault as defined by regulations: 
  
  1. no negligence     0 points 
  2.  negligence     1-12 points 
   3.  recklessness; knowing and willful conduct 13-25 points 
  
“No negligence” means an inadvertent violation that was unavoidable by the exercise of 
reasonable care.  (For instance, the permittee acted prudently but a violation occurred anyway 
due to an unpredictable event.)  While the permittee cannot prevent the occurrence of the 
violation, points can be assigned for negligence if the permittee does not promptly abate the 
violation.  When no negligence on the permittee’s part can be discerned, no points should be 
given. 
 
Ignorance of the law does not constitute grounds for a finding of “no negligence.”  Permittees are 
conclusively presumed to have knowledge of all applicable regulations. “Negligence” is the 
failure of a permittee to prevent the occurrence of, or failure to abate, any violation due to 
indifference, lack of diligence, or lack of reasonable care.  Negligent acts include committing an 
act that constitutes a violation, failing to do something that is required, or attempting to do a 
requirement but doing it improperly. 
 
As the regulations establish what is considered the standard of reasonable care, almost every 
violation involves some degree of fault.  In assigning points for negligence, the assessor should 
always start at twelve (12) points and work down for any moderating circumstances.   
 
“Recklessness” is a greater degree of fault than negligence, implying knowing or intentional 
conduct.  Thirteen (13) to twenty-five (25) points are assessed for recklessness depending on the 
specifics of the violation.  Generally, where recklessness is involved, the assessor starts at 
thirteen (13) and assesses upward depending on compounding circumstances.  The legal 
definition of recklessness is disregard of a known or obvious high risk.  A permittee is reckless 
where it would have been obvious to a reasonable operator that the course of action (an action or 
failure to take action) was likely to cause a serious amount of damage or harm, and the operator 
followed the course anyway.  Reckless conduct also exists in those instances where the operator 
is engaged in activities inherently dangerous, requiring a greater degree of care to ensure safety. 
 
“Knowing or willful conduct” is when the permittee is aware there is, or will be, a violation of 
the regulations and fails to correct or avoid the situation.  A permittee is considered to be 
knowing or willful when: 
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  1. A specific permit condition is violated. 
  2. The state has previously warned or cited regarding the same situation on 
the same site and there is documentation of the warning or citation. 
  3. OSM has previously warned or cited regarding the same situation on the 
same site and there is documentation of the warning or citation. 
 
Specific permit condition violations are assessed at twenty-one (21) to twenty-two (22) points 
depending on the seriousness of the violation.  If there were state warnings or citations, twenty-
three (23) points are assessed.  If there were prior OSM warnings or citations, the point total 
should be twenty-four (24).  When a wildcatter (an operator without a permit) is involved, the 
maximum of twenty-five (25) points should be made. 
 

E. Good Faith.  The Assessor and/or Conference Officer will consider the good faith 
of the permittee in attempting to achieve rapid compliance by using extraordinary measures after 
notification of a violation.  Rapid compliance means that measures were taken to abate the 
violation in the shortest possible time and abatement was achieved before the time allowed for 
abatement.  Normal compliance is when the permittee abated the violation at the time given for 
abatement, but extraordinary measures were not used. 
 
The good faith criterion is considered only after a violation has been abated and normally is not 
considered by the Assessor.   Per 30 CFR 845.13 (B)(4)(iii), “If the consideration of this criterion 
is impractical because of the length of the abatement period, the [civil penalty] assessment may 
be made without considering this criterion and may be reassessed after the violation has been 
abated.”  Points for good faith may be awarded as follows: 
 

1. Normal compliance or lack of abatement  0 points 
2. Rapid compliance + extraordinary measures  -1 to -10 points 

 
Considerations of good faith include the examination of initiative, consistency, and commitment 
of resources to determine if extraordinary measures were employed to achieve rapid compliance.  
Initiative would be how quickly or thoroughly the permittee began work to abate the violation.  
Consistency would measure or examine the degree of effort or completeness employed to 
eliminate the problem or violation.  Commitment of resources would involve securing additional 
equipment or personnel, interrupting coal removal, expending extra man hours and resources, or 
other special measures taken to remedy the situation in the fastest available means.  
 
The following can be used as a guide in awarding good faith points, recognizing that in order to 
award good faith there should be documentation that extraordinary measures were used, in 
addition to rapid compliance.  In calculating the time set for abatement, include any extension of 
time given by the inspector for extenuating circumstances.   
 

Good Faith Determination Points 
 

Abatement occurs immediately or within 10 percent of time set -10 
Abatement occurs within 11 to 20 percent of time set  -9 
Abatement occurs within 21 to 30 percent of time set  -8 
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Abatement occurs within 31 to 40 percent of time set  -7 
Abatement occurs within 41 to 51 percent of time set  -6 
Abatement occurs within 51 to 60 percent of time set  -5 
Abatement occurs within 61 to 70 percent of time set  -4 
Abatement occurs within 71 to 80 percent of time set  -3 
Abatement occurs within 81 to 90 percent of time set  -2 
Abatement occurs within 91 to 98 percent of time set  -1 
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CHAPTER 4 
 

EXHIBITS 
 

 Number Form      
  A  Citation     A-23 

Page 

 B  Mine Site Inspection form (MEIR)  A-26 
 C  Citation Modification    A-28 
  D  Inspector’s Statement    A-31 
 E  Citation Vacation/Termination  A-34 
 F-1  Notice of Proposed Civil Penalty  A-37 
    Assessment (NOPA)  

F-2  Notice of Proposed Civil Penalty  A-39 
   Assessment (NOPA) 

  G-1  Conference Request form   A-44 
 G-2  Conference Request form   A-45 
  H  Conference Request Approval  A-49 
  I  Conference appointment letter  A-50   
  J-1  Conclusion of conference report  A-51 
 J-2  Conclusion of conference report  A-57 
  J-3  Conclusion of conference report 
     (revised assessment)    A-59 
 J-4  Conclusion of conference report 
    (settlement agreement)   A-67 
  K-1  Conference Officer Audit report  A-70 
  K-2  Conference Officer Audit report  A-71 
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